

AFRL-RH-WP-TP-2012-0043

Environmental Enrichment Protects against Functional Deficits caused by Traumatic Brain Injury

Erica M. Johnson, Kyle L. Traver Warfighter Interface Division

Stuart W. Hoffman Department of Veteran Affairs

Catherine R. Harrison Federal Aviation Administration

> James P. Herman University of Cincinnati

> > November 2012 Interim Report

Distribution A: Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.

AIR FORCE RESEARCH LABORATORY 711 HUMAN PERFORMANCE WING, HUMAN EFFECTIVENESS DIRECTORATE, WRIGHT-PATTERSON AIR FORCE BASE, OH 45433 AIR FORCE MATERIEL COMMAND UNITED STATES AIR FORCE

NOTICE AND SIGNATURE PAGE

Using Government drawings, specifications, or other data included in this document for any purpose other than Government procurement does not in any way obligate the U.S. Government. The fact that the Government formulated or supplied the drawings, specifications, or other data does not license the holder or any other person or corporation; or convey any rights or permission to manufacture, use, or sell any patented invention that may relate to them.

This report was cleared for public release by the 88th Air Base Wing Public Affairs Office and is available to the general public, including foreign nationals. Copies may be obtained from the Defense Technical Information Center (DTIC) (http://www.dtic.mil).

AFRL-RH-WP-TP-2012-0043 HAS BEEN REVIEWED AND IS APPROVED FOR PUBLICATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASSIGNED DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT.

//signed// KYLE TRAVER Work Unit Manager Applied Neuroscience Branch //signed// WILLIAM E. RUSSELL Chief, Applied Neuroscience Branch Warfighter Interface Division

//signed// G. RICHARD FREEMAN Chief, Warfighter Interface Division Human Effectiveness Directorate 711 Human Performance Wing Air Force Research Laboratory

This report is published in the interest of scientific and technical information exchange, and its publication does not constitute the Government's approval or disapproval of its ideas or findings.

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE					Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188	
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing this collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to any penalty for failing to comply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently be available of the complexity of the						
1. REPORT DATE (D	D-MM-YYYY)	2. REPORT TYPE	KE33.	3.	DATES COVERED (From - To)	
27-11-	2012	Tech	nnical Paper		January 2010 – May 2011	
4. TITLE AND SUBTI	TLE			5a.	CONTRACT NUMBER	
Environmental E	nrichment Protects	against Functional I	Deficits caused by		In-House	
Traumatic Brain	Injury			5b	. GRANT NUMBER	
				5 c. 62	PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER 202F	
6. AUTHOR(S)				5d	PROJECT NUMBER	
Erica M. Johnson	, Kyle L. Traver, S	tuart W. Hoffman, C	atherine R. Harrison,		TASK NUMBER	
James F. Herman				5f.	WORK UNIT NUMBER H04M (53290807)	
7. PERFORMING OR	GANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)		8.	PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT	
					NUMBER	
711 HPW/RHCP	; Applied Neurosci	ence Branch				
2510 Fifth Street						
Wright Patterson	AFB, OH 45433					
9. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRES: Air Force Materiel Command			SS(ES)	10 71	SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S) 1 HPW/RHCP	
Air Force Researce	ch Laboratory					
711th Human Per	formance Wing			11	SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT	
Human Effectiveness Directorate						
Warfighter Interface Division					NUMBER(5)	
Applied Neuroscience Branch						
Wright-Patterson AFB OH 45433				A	FRL-RH-WP-TP-2012-0043	
12. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY STATEMENT Distribution A: Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.						
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES						
88 ABW/PA Cleared 4/09/2013; 88ABW-2013-1135; AFMC-2013-0051.						
14. ABSTRACT		. 1 . 1	· 11 ·	1 1.4.1		
Environmental en	richment (EE) incr	eases cortical weigh	it, neuronal density,	dendritic bra	nching, and angiogenesis, all of	
which may be critical for functional recovery following insult. Our study was designed to determine possible benefits of pre-						
exposure to EE In	preventing function	mai deficits following	ig traumatic drain if	ijury (IBI) lo	the prefrontal cortex. To examine	
the benefit of EE, adult male rats were placed in an enriched environment for 15 days. Enrichment was provided through						
social interaction,	role ware subjected	to a moderate mod	w objects/toys to ex	inium via aa	ntrolled cortical impact A fter one	
age-matched com	iois were subjected	a rolly tosted to asso	a prenonta conex	injury via co	nationed contreal impact. After one	
week recovery, animals were benaviorally tested to assess memory, anxiety, and sensory neglect. Lesion-induced deficits in						
spatial memory (worris water maze) were significantly attenuated in EE pre-exposed rats 18-21 days following injury. In addition TPL induced concern nocleat was significantly reduced in EE rate relative to new enriched enimals. No differences						
in any jety like behavior on the elevated plus mare (EDM) were detected. The behavioral data suggest that EE is						
n anxiety-fixe behavior on the crevated plus maze (EFIV) were detected. The behavioral data suggest that EE is						
				unowing inju	1 <i>y</i> .	
15. SUBJECT TERMS Environmental enrichment (EE), traumatic brain injury (TBI), spatial memory, elevated plus maze (EPM)						
16. SECURITY CLAS	SIFICATION OF:		17. LIMITATION	18. NUMBER	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON	
			OF ABSTRACT	OF PAGES	Kyle Traver	
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE	SAD	~~	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (include area code)	
U	U	U	SAN	23	NA	

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKN	NOWLEDGEMENT	v			
1.0	OVERVIEW	1			
2.0	INTRODUCTION	1			
3.0	METHODS	2			
3.1	Animals	2			
3.2	Housing Conditions	2			
3.3	Controlled Cortical Impact	4			
3.4	Sensory Neglect	4			
3.5	Elevated Plus Maze	5			
3.6	Morris Water Maze	5			
3.7	Histology	5			
3.8	Nissl Stain	6			
3.9	Statistical Analysis	6			
4.0	RESULTS	6			
4.1	Sensory Neglect	6			
4.2	Anxiety-like behavior: Elevated Plus Maze	7			
4.3	Spatial Memory: Morris Water Maze	8			
4.4	Lesion size	8			
5.0	DISCUSSION	9			
6.0	CONCLUSION	0			
REFE	RENCES	0			
Appen	Appendix A15				
ACRC	DNYMS	5			

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Experimental Timeline. The experiment consisted of 15 days of housing (either	
enriched or standard) followed by controlled cortical impact (CCI) surgery	. 3
Figure 2. Enriched Housing Condition (EC group)	. 4
Figure 3. Reduced Sensory Neglect Deficit Associated with Enrichment Before Injury	. 7
Figure 4. Risk-taking on the Elevated Plus Maze After Injury is Not Remedied by Enrichment.	. 7
Figure 5. Reduced Deficits on the Morris Water Maze Task Associated with Enrichment Befor	e
Injury	. 8

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research was sponsored by the Air Force Research Laboratory, Wright Patterson Air Force Base, and was funded in part by the Defense and Veterans Brain Injury Center. The authors wish to thank Mr. Chuck Goodyear for his invaluable assistance with statistical analysis, the animal research support team for their excellent assistance with enrichment housing and behavioral testing and the University of Cincinnati Neuroscience graduate program for their generous support.

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

1.0 OVERVIEW

Environmental enrichment (EE) increases cortical weight, neuronal density, dendritic branching, and angiogenesis, all of which may be critical for functional recovery following insult. Our study was designed to determine possible benefits of pre-exposure to EE in preventing functional deficits following traumatic brain injury (TBI) to the prefrontal cortex. To examine the benefit of EE, adult male rats were placed in an enriched environment for 15 days. Enrichment was provided through social interaction, exercise, olfactory stimulation, and new objects/toys to explore. Following enrichment, experimental and age-matched controls were subjected to a moderate medial prefrontal cortex injury via controlled cortical impact. After one week recovery, animals were behaviorally tested to assess memory, anxiety, and sensory neglect. Lesion-induced deficits in spatial memory (Morris water maze) were significantly attenuated in EE pre-exposed rats 18-21 days following injury. In addition, TBI-induced sensory neglect was significantly reduced in EE rats relative to non-enriched animals. No differences in anxiety-like behavior on the elevated plus maze (EPM) were detected. The behavioral data suggest that EE is neuroprotective when applied prior to TBI, resulting in improved recovery following injury.

2.0 INTRODUCTION

Environmental enrichment (EE), the provision of a rich and stimulating environment, induces neuronal changes that can mitigate functional deficits associated with various degenerative diseases and injury (Gaulke et al., 2005; Horner and Gage, 2000; Passineau et al., 2001; van Dellen et al., 2000; Will et al., 2004). Early studies in rodents indicate that EE increases total brain and cortical weight (Henderson, 1970; Rosenzweig et al., 1972; Rosenzweig and Bennett, 1972). Subsequent studies document additional benefits of EE including increased neuronal density (Kempermann et al., 1997), dendritic branching (Greenough and Volkmar, 1973), cortical tissue synapses (Turner and Greenough, 1985), neuronal transmission (Rampon et al., 2000), and enhanced neurotrophic growth factor expression (Ickes et al., 2000; Young et al., 1999). In addition, EE regulates the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, mediating the release of glucocorticoids (GCs) such as corticosterone. The EE-induced hormonal and neurostructural changes are associated with improvements in memory (Benaroya-Milshtein et al., 2004; Chamove, 1989; Nilsson et al., 1999; Schrijver et al., 2002; van Praag et al., 2000) and reduced anxiety-like behaviors (Larsson et al., 2002).

The beneficial effects of EE on cortical structure and function support its use as a therapy to improve recovery from traumatic brain injury (TBI) (Chen et al., 2005; Gaulke et al., 2005; Giza et al., 2005; Horner and Gage, 2000; Kline et al., 2007; Passineau et al., 2001; Wagner et al., 2005; Will et al., 2004, 1977). Clinical symptoms of TBI include anxiety (Hiott and Labbate, 2002), cognitive and memory deficits (Levin et al., 1988), sensory impairments (Lew et al., 2012), and attentional impairments (Willmott et al., 2009). Cortical and subcortical lesions in regions such as the hippocampus occur most frequently following TBI in the frontal lobe (McDowell et al., 1997), leading to lasting working memory deficits (Fox et al., 1998), prominent anxiety (Jorge et al., 2004), and executive dysfunction (Eslinger, 1996). The neurological and behavioral effects of EE reduce TBI-induced deficits and improve recovery

time (Chen et al., 2005; Gaulke et al., 2005; Giza et al., 2005; Kline et al., 2007; Passineau et al., 2001; Wagner et al., 2005; Will et al., 2004, 1977). Importantly, the cognitive benefits of EE are also demonstrated by a reduced deficit in memory performance following brain injury (Hamm et al., 1996; Komitova et al., 2005; Will et al., 2004).

Post-TBI EE therapy is effective in reducing negative outcomes, but its efficacy is limited by the fact that damage has already occurred, and in this usage is palliative, rather than preventative manipulation. Applying enrichment *before* injury may afford additional resiliency against TBI-induced deficits through modulation of various endogenous brain responses to injury that have deleterious effects on functional outcome. While the studies above reflect the neuroanatomical and behavioral effects of EE applied following TBI, little research exists exploring the use of EE as a prophylactic measure. Kozlowski and colleagues evaluated the effect of EE on immature rats before controlled cortical impact (CCI) and found that pre-TBI EE paradoxically increased lesion size but ultimately enhanced recovery as indicated by shortened motor coordination recovery time (Kozlowski et al., 2004). However, this study did not examine the resiliency effects of EE against cognitive deficits.

Positive effects of EE on numerous indices of neuronal health and viability suggest that exposure to enrichment may render the brain resistant to deleterious effects of a subsequent insult. Thus, pre-exposure to EE may comprise a neuroprotective strategy to reduce the negative impact of TBI behavioral deficits in memory, sensory neglect, and anxiety when applied prior to injury. If neuroprotective, the EE concept may be a viable training mechanism to improve resiliency against the consequences of physical brain trauma. The present experiment sought to tests the efficacy of prior EE in limiting the negative consequence of TBI on sensory, cognitive and emotional functions. To this end, adult male rats were placed in an enriched environment prior-to receiving a moderate medial prefrontal cortex injury via controlled cortical impact. Our data suggest that prophylactic EE can effectively reduce the impact of TBI on sensory impairment and memory deficits.

3.0 METHODS

3.1 Animals

Forty–eight male Sprague-Dawley rats (Charles River Laboratory, Wilmington, MA) were used in this study. Rats were approximately 120 days (400-500g) of age at the commencement of experimentation. The animals were housed in a room with controlled temperature and a 12hr light/dark cycle (lights on at 0600) with ad libitum access to food and water. All experimental protocols were approved by the Wright Patterson Air Force Base Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, and conformed to the guidelines published in the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

3.2 Housing Conditions

Two housing conditions were used: environmentally enriched condition (EC) and standard control (ST), both for 15 days before injury (see Figure 1 for experimental timeline). The ST

group was housed in standard-sized polycarbonate rat cages, two per cage. Animals in both housing conditions were subjected to a medial prefrontal TBI via CCI. An additional group of animals received sham injury and were maintained under standard housing conditions. Sixteen animals were placed in each cohort: EC-TBI, ST-TBI, and Sham.

The EC group was housed 8 animals per cage in large wire mesh cages (1m³) with two levels and access to running wheels and toys (e.g. ropes, plastic cars and trucks, plastic tunnels, ladders and running wheels) (Briones et al., 2004; Lippert-Gruener et al., 2007, Maegele et al., 2005) (Figure 2). The objects inside the EC cages were replaced by new toys twice weekly (Briones et al., 2004) in order to provide the animals with opportunities for learning and sensory stimulation. In addition, twice a day each EC animal underwent individual motor skills training (MST), an enriching activity that involves learning a complex motor task and combines coordination, balance, concentration, and learning components. MST consisted of an elevated obstacle course of parallel bars, balance beams, ropes, ladders, and chains (Jones et. al., 1999). Animals were trained on the MST course between 1300 and 1500. EC animals were also exposed to daily olfactory stimulation consisting of variously perfumed paper strips presented in the cage for 10 minutes (Maegele et al., 2005). The scents used each day were chosen randomly and consisted of peppermint, lavender, or cinnamon. ST-TBI and Sham animals were handled daily, yet otherwise left undisturbed in their group cages without any additional stimulating enrichment.



Figure 1. Experimental Timeline. The experiment consisted of 15 days of housing (either enriched or standard) followed by controlled cortical impact (CCI) surgery. After 1 week of recovery, the following behavioral tests were conducted: sensory neglect (SN), elevated plus maze (EPM), and Morris water maze (MWM).



Figure 2. Enriched Housing Condition (EC group). The EC group was housed in large wire mesh cages (1m³) with levels and access to running wheels and toys, replaced twice weekly.

3.3 Controlled Cortical Impact

After 15 days of housing in either EC or ST conditions, animals were subjected to TBI in the prefrontal cortex by means of CCI. This region in the rat is homologous to the anterior cingulate cortex in humans, implicated in frontal lobe syndrome (Leonard, 1969). The CCI model of brain injury in rats results in pathophysiology similar to human TBI including contusion and axonal injury (Dixon et al., 1996). Animals were anesthetized with isoflurane (5% induction, 2% maintenance) and mounted in a stereotaxic apparatus with heads fixed in a horizontal position. Blood oxygen saturation (SpO₂) was monitored and maintained at levels > 90% and body temperature was maintained at 37° C with a homeothermic heating blanket system. A midline incision was made and the scalp and fascia were retracted to expose the cranium. Using a 6 mm diameter trephan, a craniectomy was made over the medial frontal cortex, 3 mm anterior to bregma. Once the dura was exposed, a bilateral contusion was induced using a 5 mm diameter anvil with an electric contusion impactor (Custom Design and Fabrication, Virginia Commonwealth University Medical Center, Richmond, Virginia). The injury was made with a velocity of 2.25 m/sec, depth of 3 mm, and 50 msec of brain contact. Bleeding was stopped with gauze and cool saline, and the scalp was subsequently sutured with 7 mm surgical staples. Sham animals received craniectomy but no cortical impact. Following recovery from anesthesia, animals were returned to their original cages with cage mates. The EC animals were returned to their original cages, but no longer received additional enrichment, and the levels and toys were removed from the cages. The animals recovered for one week before the commencement of behavioral tests.

3.4 Sensory Neglect

The sensory neglect test is used to observe responsivity to focal somatosensory stimuli (Hoffman et al., 2003). All animals were tested for sensory neglect at baseline and post-injury. Baseline measurements of sensory neglect were taken one day prior to CCI or sham surgery. Further testing was conducted at 8 and 25 days post-surgery. The test consisted of a 2 cm diameter sticker being placed on the distal-radial area of both forelimbs. The animal was then placed in a clear empty shoebox cage and the latency to remove both stickers was recorded. Each animal

received 3 trials with approximately 5 minute intervals. The maximum length of a trial was 2 minutes, at which time any remaining stickers were removed.

3.5 Elevated Plus Maze

The elevated plus maze is a standard test of anxiety-like behaviors in rodents (Benaroya-Milshtein et al., 2004). All animals were tested at day 7 post-injury. Animals were placed in the center of the maze, consisting of two open ($10.2 \times 102 \text{ cm}$) and two enclosed arms ($10.2 \times 102 \times 30.5 \text{ cm}$), elevated 53.3 cm above the floor. At the start of the test, animals were placed facing one of the enclosed arms. Each animal was tested for one 5 minute trial and the maze was cleaned with 70% ethanol after each trial. Ethovision software was used to record the behavior of the animal and time spent in each area of the maze. Behaviors which were recorded included rearing, grooming, and head dipping.

3.6 Morris Water Maze

The Morris water maze is an established test of spatial learning and memory (Buccafusco, 2009). All animals were tested on the MWM beginning 11 days post-surgery. Animals were placed in a 178 cm diameter dark circular tank filled with water (approximately 37 cm deep). The tank was divided evenly into four quadrants (A, B, C, D) with appropriate marking of the quadrants on the top edge of the tank. A 10.2 cm diameter clear plexiglass platform was submerged to a depth of 2 cm below waterline and placed approximately 28 cm from the wall of the pool in quadrant C. Latency to find the hidden platform was recorded using Ethovision software that tracked and timed the animals in the tank until they reached the platform. The position of the platform remained the same throughout the experiment.

The MWM consisted of 10 tests performed over 12 days (two 5-day blocks with a 2-day break between the blocks to test memory retention). Days 1-11 consisted of acquisition testing and were comprised of 2 trials per day. For each trial, the animal was placed in the pool at random quadrants, facing the wall. If the animal did not find the platform in 90 seconds, they were physically guided to it. Upon reaching the platform the animal remained there for 10 seconds and then was removed for a 30 second interval before the start of the second trial. MWM day 12 consisted of only one probe trial with the platform removed and time spent in quadrant C was recorded.

3.7 Histology

Following the behavioral tests and stress challenge, animals were briefly anesthetized with 5% isofluorane and decapitated via guillotine. The brains from half of each group were removed and split in half sagittally (eight brains in each cohort: EC-TBI, ST-TBI, and Sham). Alternating left and right sides were kept intact and flash frozen in isopentane while the contralateral side was dissected for biomarker analysis (data not shown). Coronal sections of the intact brain hemispheres (14 μ m) through the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus were cut on a cryostat and stored at -20°C. Every fourth section was used for lesion analysis using Nissl staining.

3.8 Nissl Stain

A Nissl stain was performed to identify cell bodies and grossly visualize damage from the CCI. Slides were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 minutes. After being rinsed in 1X phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and dried overnight, slides were placed in cresyl violet for 4-5 minutes. Racks were rinsed 5 times with H₂O and dehydrated using a variety of alcohol concentrations and xylenes. The slides were coverslipped and imaged using an Axio Imager.Z1 (Carl Zeiss Microimaging, Thornwood, NY).

3.9 Statistical Analysis

All results are expressed as mean \pm standard error (SE), unless depicted differently in the figures. The data were tested for normality and equal variance using the Kolmogorow-Smirnov test and F-test, respectively. Outliers for each data set were identified using Grubb's test with $\alpha = 0.05$ (Barnett and Lewis 1994). The significance level for all tests was 0.05. A one-way analysis of variance was used to compare groups ST-TBI, EC-TBI, and Sham. If day was included as a factor, a mixed-design ANOVA was used. Since the specific hypotheses tests were identified a priori, planned comparisons were performed regardless of the outcome of the ANOVA. Posthoc paired comparisons of groups used Tukey simultaneous confidence intervals with a 0.05 experimentwise error level.

4.0 RESULTS

Four rats were excluded from all analyses (1 ST-TBI, and 3 Sham) due to death or poor postsurgical recovery, resulting in the following sample sizes for behavioral analysis: 16 EC-TBI, 15 ST-TBI, and 13 Sham.

4.1 Sensory Neglect

Prior to TBI, there was no effect of group on latency to sticker removal, indicating that housing conditions did not affect sensory neglect. Following TBI, there were significant effects of group on sticker removal latency on day 8 ($F_{2,40} = 6.33$, p < 0.01) and day 25 ($F_{2,40} = 6.13$, p < 0.01). Post-hoc analysis indicated that both Sham and EC-TBI removed the stickers significantly faster than the ST-TBI group at both post-injury time points (Figure 3). Thus, TBI-induced sensory neglect was attenuated when enrichment was applied prior to injury.



Figure 3. Reduced Sensory Neglect Deficit Associated with Enrichment Before Injury. Sham and EC-TBI animals removed the stickers significantly faster than the ST-TBI group at days 8 and 25 post-injury. Data shown are Mean - SE. * Significantly different than Sham and EC-TBI using Tukey's post-hoc test.

4.2 Anxiety-like behavior: Elevated Plus Maze

Percent time in the open arm, head dipping, rearing, and grooming were tested as indicators of anxiety-related behaviors in the EPM (one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA)). There were significant effects of groups on open arm time ($F_{2,40} = 8.08$, p < 0.01) and head dipping ($F_{2,40} = 7.23$, p < 0.01), but no significant group effects on rearing or grooming (Figure 4). Post-hoc paired comparisons indicated that both ST-TBI and EC-TBI groups spent more time in the open arm and more time head dipping than the Sham group. Time spent in the open arm and head dipping can be associated with reduced anxiety-like behavior. However, it is important to note that prefrontal damage can increase risk-taking behavior (Bechara et al., 1994; Floden et al., 2008) which may result in increased open arm time via a non-anxiety related mechanism (Pandey et al., 2009).



Figure 4. Risk-taking on the Elevated Plus Maze After Injury is Not Remedied by Enrichment. ST-TBI and EC-TBI animals spent more time exploring the open arms and head dipping than Sham animals. No significant differences in rearing or grooming were observed.

Data shown are Mean - SE. * Significantly different than Sham and EC-TBI using Tukey's post-hoc test.

4.3 Spatial Memory: Morris Water Maze

A mixed-design ANOVA on latency to reach the submerged platform was performed for each trial separately using days 8-11, following a two-day break when animals were not tested. For trial 1 there was a significant difference among the groups ($F_{2,41} = 4.56$, p = 0.01). Post-hoc analysis indicated that in trial 1, following the two-day break, both Sham and EC-TBI located the platform significantly faster than the ST-TBI group (Figure 5). For trial 2 there was not a significant difference among the groups. The EC-TBI animals performed similarly to the Sham controls, demonstrating no injury-induced deficits in spatial memory. ST-TBI animals however, demonstrated impaired Morris Water Maze (MWM) performance, especially during trial 1 after the two-day break, indicative of memory recall deficits.

No significant differences in swim speed (range = 25.3 ± 1.1 to 28.0 ± 1.1 cm/s) were observed among the groups on the first or final day, confirming that the differences observed in escape latencies could not be attributed to motor deficits affecting swimming speed. On the last day of MWM testing, the platform (originally in quadrant C) was removed and time spent in quadrant C was analyzed for memory retention. A one-way ANOVA revealed no significant difference among the groups for time in quadrant or distance swam.



Figure 5. Reduced Deficits on the Morris Water Maze Task Associated with Enrichment Before Injury. EC-TBI and Sham animals reached the hidden platform significantly faster than ST-TBI animals in trial 1 following two day break for memory retention. ^a p < 0.05 Sham vs ST-TBI, ^b p < 0.05 Sham vs EC-TBI, ^c p < 0.05 ST-TBI vs EC-TBI using two-tailed 2-sample t-test.

4.4 Lesion size

Nissl-stained coronal sections of the prefrontal cortex were visually analyzed for gross differences in lesion size. We employed the same CCI method as Hoffman and colleagues which produces a consistent injury pattern in the prefrontal cortex (Hoffman et al., 2003). In both ST-

TBI and EC-TBI animals, there was substantial loss of Nissl neuronal profiles in the dorsal prefrontal cortex, typically compromising the anterior cingulate cortex, with occasional damage seen in the prelimbic cortex. Qualitatively, the extent of cortical damage was similar between the two groups, indicating that EC did not prevent cell loss incurred upon initial insult.

5.0 **DISCUSSION**

The results of the present study provide evidence that environmental enrichment *before* experimental TBI results in sparing of cortical function. Approximately two weeks of enrichment prior to injury in adult animals blocked the deleterious effects of TBI on spatial memory and sensory discrimination, indicated by performances indistinguishable from the Sham group in the Morris water maze and sensory neglect test. Enriched animals therefore had a better prognosis following experimental TBI. This is likely caused by long-term effects of EE on neuroplastic responses to challenge.

Findings from the MWM indicated that EE blocks the development of spatial memory deficits due to subsequent frontal lobe injury. Because the animal relies solely on spatial cues and memory, decreased latency to the platform is indicative of improved spatial memory. The fact that MWM swim speeds were similar among the groups indicates that there were no motor deficits associated with injury or treatments, and thus impaired MWM performance in the ST-TBI group can be interpreted to represent memory deficits associated with prefrontal cortex lesions. ST-TBI animals showed increased latency to find the platform on the first trial throughout days 8-11. Trial 1 is the first test of each day and is an indication of memory recall, and increased latency on this trial is indicative of functional impairment. Enriched injured animals performed similarly to the Sham controls, indicating that EE prior to injury blocks the deleterious effects of TBI.

The two-day break following test day five provided for an additional test of memory recall. ST-TBI animals performed significantly worse in trial 1 after the two-day break, whereas EC-TBI and Sham animals continued to improve time to platform even after the break, reflective of longterm memory retention. It can therefore be concluded from the MWM results that injury to the prefrontal cortex results in memory recall deficits that can be prevented by applying EE before injury.

The sensory neglect task revealed significant impairments resulting from injury to the prefrontal cortex, which was abolished by pre-enrichment. The sensory neglect task is a good indicator of responsiveness to focal somatosensory stimuli (Hoffman et al., 2003). The enhanced EC-TBI performance before and after injury could be indicative of improved attention and sensitivity. Overall, the improvements observed in the MWM and sensory neglect test indicate that enrichment positively affects structures distal to the site of injury, including the hippocampus and sensory fields. These structures were made resilient to injury through the enrichment training paradigm and therefore protected from the deleterious effects of TBI.

The elevated plus maze is used frequently to test for anxiety-like behavior, but in this experiment it revealed interesting results about the effect of frontal injury on risk-taking behavior. Time in

the open arm of the maze is taken to indicate reduced anxiety, an interpretation supported by increased open arm time following administration of anxiolytics such as diazepam (Pellow et al., 1985). We found high open arm time in TBI groups, regardless of housing, possibly due to increased risk-taking behavior after TBI. This is supported by the literature as frontal lobe injury is associated with increased risk-taking behavior in humans (Bechara et al., 1994; Floden et al., 2008). Furthermore, experimental TBI in rats increases the percentage of time spent in the open arms of the EPM (Pandey et al., 2009). TBI may result in anxiolytic properties due to damage to the prefrontal cortex. We observed that the effect of injury on open arm time was not abolished by pre-enrichment. The differences between the TBI and Sham groups confirm frontal cortex injury through a gross measurement of behavior. There was no change in EPM activity among groups, confirming that time in open arm may be related to 'risk assessment' rather than motor hyperactivity. To further examine anxiety-like behaviors, ethological measures were assessed including head dipping, rearing, and grooming. TBI animals engaged in more head dipping, but this could be attributed to the increased opportunity for dips with increased open arm time. There were no differences in rearing and grooming, supporting the argument that the increased time spent in the open arms is a measure of risk-taking behavior, not anxiety.

The behavioral results indicate a neuroprotective benefit of EE before injury. These finding are in line with the large quantities of therapeutic research concluding EE is beneficial after injury. However, the mechanisms governing EE-mediated behavioral improvements after injury are unclear. Behavioral deficits can be attributed to neuronal loss following TBI due to 1) cell death due to physical damage 2) necrotic cell death due to excitatory neurotransmitter release and 3) delayed cell death. It is generally hypothesized that EE applied immediately after injury attenuates delayed cell death. We hypothesize that this is also true when EE is applied before injury, by priming neural processes that promote growth and cell survival.

6.0 CONCLUSION

In summary, the results of this study indicate that environmental enrichment, when applied before injury, is protective against the functional deficits of TBI. The EE concept may therefore be a viable training mechanism to improve resiliency against the consequences of physical brain trauma. Future studies are necessary to further explore the possible neuroplastic mechanisms responsible for the protection. Understanding how prior environment affects susceptibility to lasting damage from trauma is crucial for protecting at-risk populations (e.g., deployed military personnel) from potentially devastating effects of head injury on sensory and cognitive function.

REFERENCES

Barnett, V., and Lewis, T. (1994). Outliers in statistical data, third ed. Chichester, UK.

Bechara, A., Damasio, A., Damasio, H., and Anderson, S. (1994). Insensitivity to future consequences following damage to human prefrontal cortex. *Cognition* 50(1-3), 7-15.

Benaroya-Milshtein, N., Hollander, N., Apter, A., Kukulansky, T., Raz, N., Wilf, A., Yaniv, I., and Pick, C. (2004). Environmental enrichment in mice decreases anxiety, attenuates stress responses and enhances natural killer cell activity. *Eur J Neurosci* 20, 1341-1347.

Briones, T. L., Klintsova, A. Y., and Greenough, W. T. (2004). Stability of synaptic plasticity in the adult rat visual cortex induced by complex environment exposure. *Brain Res* 1018(1), 130-5.

Buccafusco, J. J. (2009). Methods of Behavior Analysis in Neuroscience, second edition. ed. J. J. Evans (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press).

Chamove, A. S. (1989). Cage design reduces emotionality in mice. Lab anim 23, 215-219.

Chen, X., Li, Y., Kline, A. E., Dixon, C. E., Zafonte R. D., and Wagner, A. K. (2005). Gender and environmental effects on regional brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression after experimental traumatic brain injury. *Neuroscience* 135(1), 11-7.

Dixon, C. E., Bao, J., Long, D. A., and Hayes, R. L. (1996). Reduced evoked release of acetylcholine in the rodent hippocampus following traumatic brain injury. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 53(3), 679-86.

Eslinger, P. J. (1996). "Conceptualizing, Describing, and Measuring Components of Executive Function: A Summary," in *Attention, Memory, and Executive Function*, ed. G.R. Lyon and N.A. Krasnegor (Baltimore: Paul H Brookes Publishing Inc.), 367-395.

Floden, D., Alexander, M. P., Kubu, C. S., Katz, D., and Stuss, D. T. (2008). Impulsivity and risk-taking behavior in focal frontal lobe lesions. *Neuropsychologia* 46(1), 213-23.

Fox, G. B., Fan, L., Levasseur, R. A., and Faden, A. I. (1998). Sustained sensory/motor and cognitive deficits with neuronal apoptosis following controlled cortical impact brain injury in the mouse. *J Neurotrauma* 15(8), 599-614.

Gaulke, L. J., Horner, P.J., Fink, A. J., McNamara, C. L., Hicks, R. R. (2005). Environmental enrichment increases progenitor cell survival in the dentate gyrus following lateral fluid percussion injury. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* 141(2), 138-50.

Giza, C. C., Griesbach, G. S., and Hovda, D. A. (2005). Experience-dependent behavioral plasticity is disturbed following traumatic injury to the immature brain. *Behav Brain Res* 157(1), 11-22.

Greenough, W. T., and Volkmar, F. R. (1973). Pattern of dendritic branching in occipital cortex of rats reared in complex environments. *Exp Neurol* 40, 491-504.

Hamm, R. J., Temple, M. D., O'Dell, D. M., Pike, B. R., and Lyeth, B. G. (1996). Exposure to environmental complexity promotes recovery of cognitive function after traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma* 13(1), 41-7.

Henderson, N. D. (1970). Brain weight increases resulting from environmental enrichment: a directional dominance in mice. *Science* 169(947), 776-8.

Hiott, D. W. and Labbate, L. (2002). Anxiety disorders associated with traumatic brain injuries. *NeuroRehabilitation* 17(4), 345-55.

Hoffman, S. W., Virmani, S., Simkins, R. M., and Stein, D. G. (2003). The delayed administration of dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate improves recovery of function after traumatic brain injury in rats. *J Neurotrauma* 20(9), 859-70.

Horner, P. J. and Gage, F. H. (2000). Regenerating the damaged central nervous system. *Nature* 407(6807), 963-70.

Ickes, B. R., Pham, T. M., Sanders, L. A., Albeck, D. S., Mohammed, A. H., and Granholm, A. C. (2000). Long-term environmental enrichment leads to regional increases in neurotrophin levels in rat brain. *Exp Neurol* 164(1), 45-52.

Jones, T. A., Chu, C. J., Grande, L. A., and Gregory, A. D. (1999). Motor skills training enhances lesion-induced structural plasticity in the motor cortex of adult rats. *J Neurosci* 19(22), 10153-63.

Jorge, R. E., Robinson, R. G., Moser, D., Tateno, A., Crespo-Facorro, B., and Arndt, S. (2004). Major depression following traumatic brain injury. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 61(1), 42-50.

Kempermann, G., Kuhn, H.G., and Gage, F. H. (1997). More hippocampal neurons in adult mice living in an enriched environment. *Nature* 386(6624), 493-5.

Kline, A. E., Wagner, A. K., Westergom, B. P., Malena, R. R., Zafonte, R. D., Olsen, A. S., Sozda, C. N., Luthra, P., Panda, M., Cheng, J. P., and Aslam, H. A. (2007). Acute treatment with the 5-HT(1A) receptor agonist 8-OH-DPAT and chronic environmental enrichment confer neurobehavioral benefit after experimental brain trauma. *Behav Brain Res* 177(2), 186-94.

Komitova, Zhao, L. R., Gido, G., Johansson, B. B., and Eriksson, P. (2005). Postischemic exercise attenuates whereas enriched environment has certain enhancing effects on lesion-induced subventricular zone activation in the adult rat. *Eur J Neurosci* 21(9), 2397-405.

Kozlowski, D. A., Nahed, B. V., Hovada, D. A., and Lee S. M. (2004). Paradoxical effects of cortical impact injury on environmentally enriched rats. *J Neurotrauma* 21(5), 513-9.

Larsson, F., Winblad, B., and Mohammed, A.H. (2002). Psychological stress and environmental adaptation in enriched vs. impoverished housed rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 73(1), 193-207.

Leonard, C. M. (1969). The prefrontal cortex of the rat. I. Cortical projection of the mediodorsal nucleus. II. Efferent connections. *Brain Res* 12(2), 321-43.

Levin, H. S., High, Jr., W. M., Ewing-Cobbs, L., Fletcher, J. M., Eisenberg, H. M., Miner, M. E., and Goldstein, F. C. (1988). Memory functioning during the first year after closed head injury in children and adolescents. *Neurosurgery* 22(6 Pt 1), 1043-52.

Lew, H. L., Weihing, J., Myers, P. J., Pogoda, T. K., and Goodrich, G. L. (2012). Dual sensory impairment (DSI) in traumatic brain injury (TBI)--An emerging interdisciplinary challenge. *NeuroRehabilitation* 26(3), 213-22.

Lippert-Gruener, M., Maegele, M., Garbe, J., and Angelov, D. N. (2007). Late effects of enriched environment (EE) plus multimodal early onset stimulation (MEOS) after traumatic brain injury in rats: Ongoing improvement of neuromotor function despite sustained volume of the CNS lesion. *Exp Neurol* 203(1), 82-94.

Maegele, M., Lippert-Gruener, M., Ester-Bode, T., Sauerland, S., Schafer, U., Molcany, M., Lefering, R., Bouillon, B., Neiss, W. F., Angelov, D. N., Klug, N., McIntosh, T. K., and Neugebauer, E. A. (2005). Reversal of neuromotor and cognitive dysfunction in an enriched environment combined with multimodal early onset stimulation after traumatic brain injury in rats. J Neurotrauma 22(7), 772-82.

McDowell, S., Whyte, J., and D'Esposito, M. (1997). Working memory impairments in traumatic brain injury: evidence from a dual-task paradigm. *Neuropsychologia* 35(10), 1341-53.

Nilsson, M., Perfilieva, E., Johansson, U., Orwar, O., and Eriksson, P. S. (1999). Enriched environment increases neurogenesis in the adult rat dentate gyrus and improves spatial memory. *J Neurobiol* 39(4), 569-78.

Pandey, D. K., Yadav, S. K., Mahesh, R., and Rajkumar, R. (2009). Depression-like and anxietylike behavioural aftermaths of impact accelerated traumatic brain injury in rats: a model of comorbid depression and anxiety? *Behav Brain Res* 205(2), 436-42.

Passineau, M. J., Green, E. J., and Dietrich, W.D. (2001). Therapeutic effects of environmental enrichment on cognitive function and tissue integrity following severe traumatic brain injury in rats. *Exp Neurol* 168(2), 373-84.

Pellow, S., Chopin, S., File, S. E., and Briley, M. (1985). Validation of open:closed arm entries in an elevated plus-maze as a measure of anxiety in the rat. *J Neurosci Methods* 14(3), 149-67.

Rampon, C., Jiang, C. H., Dong, H. Tang, Y. P., Lockhart, D. J., Schultz, P. G., Tsien, J. Z., and Hu, Y. (2000). Effects of environmental enrichment on gene expression in the brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97(23), 12880-12884.

Rosenzweig, M. R., and Bennett, E.L. (1972). Cerebral changes in rats exposed individually to an enriched environment. *J Comp Physiol Psychol* 80(2), 304-13.

Rosenzweig, M. R., Bennett, E. L., and Diamond, M. C. (1972). Brain changes in response to experience. *Sci Am* 226, 22-29.

Schrijver, N. C., Bahr, N. I., Weiss, I. C., and Wurbel, H. (2002). Dissociable effects of isolation rearing and environmental enrichment on exploration, spatial learning and HPA activity in adult rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 73(1), 209-24.

Turner, A. M., and Greenough, W.T. (1985). Differential rearing effects on rat visual cortex synapses. I. Synaptic and neuronal density and synapses per neuron. *Brain Res* 329(1-2), 195-203.

van Dellen, A., Blakemore, C., Deacon, R., York, D., and Hannan, A. J. (2000). Delaying the onset of Huntington's in mice. *Nature* 404(6779), 721-2.

van Praag, H., Kempermann, G., and Gage, F. H. (2000). Neural Consequences of Environmental Enrichment. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 1, 191-198.

Wagner, A. K., Chen, X., Kline, A. E., Li, Y., Zafonte, R. D., and Dixon, C. E. (2005). Gender and environmental enrichment impact dopamine transporter expression after experimental traumatic brain injury. *Exp Neurol* 195(2), 475-83.

Will, B., Galani, R., Kelche, C., and Rose, M. R. (2004). Recovery from brain injury in animals: relative efficacy of environmental enrichment, physical exercise or formal training (1990-2002). *Prog Neurobiol* 72(3), 167-82.

Will, B. E., Rosenzweig, M. R., Bennett, E. L., Hebert, M., and Morimoto, H. (1977). Relatively brief environmental enrichment aids recovery of learning capacity and alters brain measures after postweaning brain lesions in rats. *J Comp Physiol Psychol* 91(1), 33-50.

Willmott, C., Ponsford, J., Hocking, C., and Schonberger, M. (2009). Factors contributing to attentional impairments after traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychology* 23(4), 424-32.

Young, D., Lawlor, P. A., Leone, P., Dragunow, M., During, M. J. (1999). Environmental enrichment inhibits spontaneous apoptosis, prevents seizures and is neuroprotective. *Nat Med* 5(4), 448-53.

Appendix A

ACRONYMS

CCI	controlled cortical impact
EE	environmental enrichment
EPM	elevated plus maze
GC	glucocorticoid
HPA	hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
MWM	Morris water maze
SN	sensory neglect
TBI	traumatic brain injury